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I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 13, 2021, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued a final 

initial determination (“ID”), finding no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 10,083,525 (“the ’525 patent”); 

10,494,239 (“the ’239 patent”); 10,696,478 (“the ’478 patent”); and 10,294,025 (“the ’025 

patent”).  Specifically, the ID found that, while the accused products infringe claims 1 and 6 of 

the ’525 patent; claims 1, 2, and 7-13 of the ’239 patent; and claim 19 of the ’478 patent, those 

claims are invalid for failing to comply with the written description and enablement requirements 

of 35 U.S.C. § 112, ¶ 1.  The ALJ found claims 2 and 3 of the ’525 patent and claims 5, 6, 14 and 

15 of the ’239 patent invalid as indefinite under 35 U.S.C. § 112, ¶ 2 in Order No. 33 (“Markman 

Order”), issued on July 22, 2021.  The ID also found claims 4 and 5 of the ’525 patent invalid as 

indefinite because they depend from claims 2 and 3 of the ’525 patent.  As for the ’025 patent, 

the ID found the accused products do not infringe claims 19 and 20, and the claims have not 

been shown to be invalid.  The ID further found that Complainants have shown that the domestic 

industry requirement was satisfied with respect to all the asserted patents under section 

337(a)(3)(B).   
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Having reviewed the record of the investigation, including the final ID and the parties’ 

submissions, the Commission has determined to review in part the final ID and the Markman 

Order and, on review, affirm with modifications the ID’s finding of no violation of section 337.  

This opinion sets forth the Commission’s reasoning in support of its determination.   

II. BACKGROUND 

The Commission instituted this investigation on November 6, 2020, based on a complaint 

filed on behalf of AutoStore Technology AS of Norway; AutoStore AS of Norway; and 

AutoStore System Inc. of Derry, New Hampshire (“AutoStore USA”) (collectively, 

“Complainants” or “AutoStore”).  85 Fed. Reg. 71096 (Nov. 6, 2020).  The complaint, as 

supplemented, alleged violations of section 337 in the importation into the United States, the sale 

for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain automated 

storage and retrieval systems, robots, and components thereof by reason of infringement of 

claims 1-6 of the ’525 patent; claims 1 and 18-20 of the ’025 patent; claims 1, 2, and 5-15 of the 

’239 patent; claim 19 of the ’478 patent; and claims 1-4 and 11-15 of U.S. Patent No. 10,474,140 

(“the ’140 patent”).  Id.  The complaint further alleged that a domestic industry exists.  Id.  The 

Commission’s notice of investigation named eight respondents:  Ocado Group Plc; Ocado 

Central Services Ltd.; Ocado Innovation Ltd.; Ocado Operating Ltd.; Ocado Solutions, Ltd.; 

Tharsus Group Ltd.; and Printed Motor Works Ltd., all of the United Kingdom; and Ocado 

Solutions USA Inc. of Tysons Corner, Virginia (collectively, “Respondents”).  Id. at 71097.  The 

Office of Unfair Import Investigations did not participate in this investigation.  Id.   

Respondent Printed Motor Works Ltd. was terminated from the investigation based on 

withdrawal of allegations in the complaint.  See Order No. 19, at 1 (June 2, 2021), unreviewed by 

Comm’n Notice (June 22, 2021).   
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The asserted claims of the ’140 patent and claims 1 and 18 of the ’025 patent were 

terminated from the investigation.  See Order No. 59 (August 9, 2021), unreviewed by Comm’n 

Notice (Aug. 20, 2021).  Complainants’ allegations that Respondents’ 500 series robot and 

redesigned 500 series robot infringe claims 19 and 20 of the ’025 patent were also terminated 

from the investigation.  Id. 

The Markman Order, issued on July 22, 2021, construed certain claim terms from all five 

asserted patents.  See Order No. 33.  The Markman Order found claims 2 and 3 of the ’525 patent 

and claims 5, 6, 14, and 15 of the ’239 patent to be invalid as indefinite.  Id. at 35-39.  The ALJ 

held an evidentiary hearing on August 2-6, 2021. 

On December 13, 2021, the ALJ issued the final ID, finding no violation of section 337 

by Respondents.  Complainants and Respondents filed a joint motion to extend the time for the 

parties to file their petitions for review from December 27, 2021 to December 30, 2021 and to 

extend the time for the parties to file replies from January 4, 2022 to January 10, 2022.  On 

December 14, 2021, the Chair granted the motion. 

On December 30, 2021, Complainants and Respondents filed separate petitions for 

review of the ID.1  On January 10, 2022, the parties filed separate replies to the petitions for 

review.2  The Commission issued its notice soliciting submissions from the public on public 

interest issues raised by the recommended determination.  The Kroger Co. submitted comments 

 
1 See AutoStore’s Petition for Review of the Initial Determination (Dec. 30, 2021) 

(“Compl. Pet.”); Respondents’ Contingent Petition for Review of Final Initial Determination of 
No Violation (Dec. 30, 2021). 

2 See AutoStore’s Response to Respondents’ Contingent Petition for Review (Jan. 10, 
2022); Respondents’ Response to AutoStore’s Petition for Review of the Final Initial 
Determination (Jan. 10, 2022). 
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on the public interest on January 14, 2022, for the Commission to consider should the 

Commission find a violation. 

III. ANALYSIS 

The Commission has determined to review in part the final ID and the Markman Order 

and, on review, to affirm with modifications the ID’s finding of no violation of section 337.  

Specifically, the Commission has determined to review:  (1) the ALJ’s construction of the terms 

“vehicle body” and “a plurality of [rolling members/wheels] attached to the vehicle body” in the 

asserted claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents; (2) the ID’s finding that claims 2-5 of the 

’525 patent and claims 5, 6, 14 and 15 of the ’239 patent are invalid as indefinite; (3) the ID’s 

construction of the term “a displacement motor” in claim 1 of the ’025 patent; and (4) the ID’s 

findings that the economic prong of the domestic industry is satisfied.3   

On review, as explained below, the Commission affirms with modification the ALJ’s 

construction of the terms “vehicle body” and “a plurality of [rolling members/wheels] attached to 

the vehicle body” in the claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents.  The Commission also 

affirms the ALJ’s finding of indefiniteness with respect to claims 2-5 of the ’525 patent and 

claims 5, 6, 14 and 15 of the ’239 patent and the ID’s construction of the term “a displacement 

motor” in claim 1 of the ’025 patent with the additional analyses provided below.  Having 

adopted the ID’s findings that the asserted claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents are invalid 

and the asserted claims of the ’025 patent are not infringed, the Commission has determined to 

 
3 Among other findings, the Commission has determined not to review the ID’s finding 

that the asserted claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents are invalid for failing to comply with 
the written description and enablement requirements of 35 U.S.C. § 112, ¶ 1. 
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take no position on the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement.4  The Commission 

affirms and adopts the ID’s findings, conclusions, and supporting analysis that are not 

inconsistent with the Commission’s opinion. 

A. The Proper Construction of “Vehicle Body” in the Asserted Claims of 
the ’525, ’239, and ’478 Patents 

The parties dispute the meaning of the term “vehicle body” as recited in each of the 

asserted claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents.  By way of example, the term “vehicle body” 

appears in claim 1 of the ’525 patent as recited in relevant part: 

1.  A robot vehicle for transporting storage bins in a bin storage 
system, comprising 

a. A vehicle body, 

b. A plurality of rolling members attached to the vehicle 
body, . . . 

* * * *  

c. A cavity arranged internally within the vehicle body arranged 
to receive a storage bin from a storage column. 

’525 patent at 7:6-8:3 (emphasis added).  Complainants argued the term should be given its plain 

and ordinary meaning.  Based on a disavowal theory, Respondents proposed construing “vehicle 

body” to mean “a vehicle body that comprises a first section for storing vehicle driving means 

and a second section, lateral to the first section, that comprises a cavity arranged centrally within 

the vehicle body.”  Markman Order (Order No. 33), at 32 (quoting RIB at 29-30).  Respondents 

did not dispute that the plain meaning of the term “vehicle body” encompasses a robot body with 

and without a two-section body.  See id. at 35.  Respondents argued, however, that the patentee 

 
4 Chair Kearns would affirm the ID’s finding that the economic prong was not established 

with respect to AutoStore USA’s investments. 
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in the specification disavowed a robot without a two-section body.  The ALJ rejected 

Respondents’ argument that the patentee disavowed claim scope in the specification and instead 

found the term “vehicle body” should be given its plain and ordinary meaning of “robot body.”  

Id. at 33-34.   

Claim terms must be given their plain and ordinary meaning to one of skill in the art 

unless the patentee acted as his own lexicographer or the patentee disavowed scope from a claim 

term.  See, e.g., Thorner v. Sony Comput. Ent. Am. LLC, 669 F.3d 1362, 1365 (Fed. Cir. 2012).  

Respondents did not argue that the patentee acted as his own lexicographer here.  Rather, 

Respondents based their construction on their position that the patentee disavowed claim scope 

based on certain disclosures in the specification.  “[T]he standard for disavowal is exacting, 

requiring clear and unequivocal evidence that the claimed invention includes or does not include 

a particular feature.”  Poly-Am., L.P. v. API Indus., Inc., 839 F.3d 1131, 1136 (Fed. Cir. 2016).  

As explained below, the Commission finds the patentee did not disavow claim scope and 

therefore agrees with the ALJ that the term “vehicle body” should be given its plain and ordinary 

meaning. 

Turning to the claim language first, the asserted claims of the ’525 patent family 

explicitly require a robot vehicle with a cavity within a vehicle body, but they do not expressly 

provide for a two-section body, a centrally arranged cavity, a driving means, or the location of 

any driving means related to, or as part of, the vehicle body.  See Order No. 33 at 12-16 (claim 

language).  Moreover, the asserted claims of the ’525, ’239, and ’478 patents themselves do not 

limit the claimed inventions to vehicle bodies with two sections where the second section is 

lateral to the first section. 
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As for the specification, there is no dispute that it describes a preferred embodiment of 

the vehicle body with two sections.  Id. at 33; see, e.g., ’525 patent5 at 2:10-14 (“The inventive 

vehicle or robot comprises a vehicle body, which vehicle body further comprises a first section 

for storing vehicle driving means and a second section for receiving any storage bin stored in a 

storage column within the storage system . . . .”).  As shown in Figure 3 below, the specification 

describes an embodiment of the vehicle body with two sections:  a first section 5 having side 

parts 5a, 5b to store the driving means and a second section that includes the cavity 7.  Id. at 

2:10-30, 4:50-61, 6:41-44.   

      

The specification distinguishes the new vehicle design from a prior art robot 1 (Fig. 2 

above).  Id. at 1:23-45.  Extending from the body 4 of prior art robot 1 is a cantilevered arm 70 

with a lifting device 9 for receiving a storage bin.  Id. at 6:41-65; see RX-0462 (Norwegian 

patent NO317366) at 11.  The body 4 of the robot 1 contains the vehicle driving mechanism for 

lifting one set of wheels off the tracks to permit the robot to travel in a particular direction.  See 

RX-0462 at 9, 12.  The specification explains that the prior art robot suffered from several 

disadvantages: 

 
5 The ’239 and ’478 patents are continuations of the ’525 patent and the three patents 

share a common specification.  For brevity, citations are to only the ’525 patent specification. 
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Firstly, the particular design of the robot prevents access to all off 
[sic] the available storage columns in the storage system. 
Furthermore, this particular design may cause an undesirable high 
torque during lifting and transportation of storage bins, thereby 
creating potential instability problems, as well as a clear limitation 
of the robots maximum handling weight. An additional 
disadvantage caused by the prior art robot design is the fact that 
only one particular bin and one particular bin height may be 
accepted for each type of robot in order to ensure adequate 
stability. Finally, the presence of an integrated yoke/overhang in 
the upper part of the section receiving the storage bin necessitates 
an undesired speed reduction at the final stage of the lifting process 
performed by the yoke suspended vehicle lifting device. 

’525 patent at 1:48-62.   

To address these drawbacks, the specification discloses a robot design having two distinct 

improvements over the prior art:  (1) a “cavity arranged centrally within the vehicle body” and 

(2) “at least one of the two sets of vehicle rolling means is arranged fully within the vehicle 

body.”  Id. at 2:25-30.  As discussed in the ID, the specification “touts the benefits of the two-

section vehicle body” in which the cavity is surrounded by a framework or protective body.  ID 

at 59.  In particular, the specification teaches that improved stability and time efficiency is 

achieved by the presence of a protective body (i.e., the first section) surrounding the cavity (i.e., 

the second section) in the vehicle body: 

[T]he novel design allows the same vehicle to be used for lifting 
and transporting storage bins of heights significantly less than the 
cavity height (i.e. the height extending from the suspension points 
of the lifting device and to the lower edge of the vehicle) since the 
framework/body surrounding at least part of the bin receiving 
cavity effectively hinders any undesired bin reeling/wobbling. The 
presence of the cavity surrounding body also allows maintaining 
full or nearly full lifting speed almost all the way to its end 
position within the cavity, as well as initiation of stable bin 
transportations towards the delivery station prior to a fully 
completed bin lifting from a storage column. The protective body 
around the cavity also gives the possibility of starting a descent of 
the lifting device event prior to the time the vehicle has come to a 
final halt above the storage column in question. A significantly 
higher stability and time efficiency is thus achieved.  
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’525 patent at 3:53-4:2 (emphasis added).  As stated earlier, the specification teaches that the 

“first section” as depicted in Figure 3 has “side parts 5,5a,5b arranged on both sides of the cavity 

7” that “stor[e] vehicle driving means.”  Id. at 4:59-60, 2:10-14; see also id. at 6:40-45.  Thus, 

the Commission finds the specification describes the benefits of having the driving means in a 

section of the vehicle body surrounding the cavity in the body. 

In concluding that the patentee did not disavow vehicles that do not have two sections, 

however, Order No. 33 states that “[t]here is no mention in this section of the specification of the 

need for or benefit from having the driving means and cavity in separate sections.”  Order No. 

33, at 34.  The Commission does not adopt this finding.  While the ALJ’s statement appears to 

reference column 3, line 60 to column 4, line 2 of the ’525 patent specification, as discussed 

above, this part (and other parts) of the specification tout the benefits of a two-section vehicle 

body in which the cavity is surrounded by a framework or protective body.  See ’525 patent at 

Abstract, 2:10-14, 2:25-27, 2:48-59, 3:48-4:2, 5:55-61; ID at 59-60.  Accordingly, the 

Commission strikes this sentence from page 34 of the Markman Order. 

Nevertheless, the Commission agrees with the ALJ that the specification does not 

unambiguously describe the invention as limited to the embodiment of a vehicle body having 

two sections as described by Respondents.  To find disavowal of claim scope, the specification 

must “make[] clear that the invention does not include a particular feature, that feature is deemed 

to be outside the reach of the claims of the patent, even though the language of the claims, read 

without reference to the specification, might be considered broad enough to encompass the 

feature in question.”  Thorner, 669 F.3d at 1366 (quoting SciMed Life Sys., Inc. v. Advanced 

Cardiovascular Sys., Inc., 242 F.3d 1337, 1341 (Fed. Cir. 2001)).  The Federal Circuit has held 

that it is not enough that all the embodiments have a particular feature to disavow claim scope 
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absent clear and unmistakable language suggesting otherwise.  See Aventis Pharma S.A. v. 

Hospira, Inc., 675 F.3d 1324, 1330 (Fed. Cir. 2012); cf. SciMed Life Sys. (“The words ‘all 

embodiments of the present invention’ are broad and unequivocal.”).  Unlike the language used 

in SciMed Life Sys., the specification here describes the embodiment of the two-section vehicle 

body as “a preferential form of embodiment, given as a non-restrictive example.”  Order No. 33, 

at 25 (quoting ’525 patent at 4:17-20).   

It is also not enough that the specification touts the benefits of a particular feature in a 

preferred embodiment, as the patentee did here with the two-section vehicle body.  While the 

specification describes a vehicle body having a cavity surrounded by a protective body as a new 

vehicle design that is different from and advantageous to prior art vehicles, the specification does 

not clearly and unmistakably limit the invention to a vehicle body with two sections where the 

second section is lateral to the first section.  As discussed above, the specification describes one 

of the advantages of the new robot design not merely because of its two-section design but 

because of the presence of a protective body surrounding the cavity.  Absent clear and 

unmistakable language suggesting otherwise, the Commission finds the specification’s 

description of a vehicle body with two sections does not rise to the level of disavowal that is 

required to limit the scope of the claims.  

In view of the above, the Commission finds the patentee did not disavow claim scope and 

that the term “vehicle body” is given its plain and ordinary meaning of “robot body.”  Under this 

construction, the ID found that there is no dispute the accused robots have a “vehicle body.”  See, 

e.g., ID at 40. 
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B. The Proper Construction of “a Plurality of [Rolling Members/Wheels] 
Attached to the Vehicle Body” in the Asserted Claims of the ’525, ’239, 
and ’478 Patents 

The parties also dispute the meaning of the term “a plurality of [rolling members/wheels] 

attached to the vehicle body.”  For example, the term appears in claim 1 of ’525 patent as recited 

in relevant part:  

1.  A robot vehicle for transporting storage bins in a bin storage 
system, comprising: 

a. A vehicle body, 

b. A plurality of rolling members attached to the vehicle body, 
arranged for traveling in a first and second directions along a 
plurality of rolling tracks of the bin storage system, . . .  

’525 patent at 7:1-12 (emphasis added).  Complainants argued the term should be given its plain 

and ordinary meaning: “At least two [rolling members/wheels] attached to the vehicle body.”  

Order No. 33, at 17.  Again, based on a disavowal theory, Respondents proposed adding a 

limitation not present in the claim language, and argued the term should be construed to mean “at 

least one of the two sets of vehicle rolling means is arranged fully within the vehicle.”  Id. at 17-

18.  The ALJ found the patentee did not disavow claim scope and that the term should be given 

its plain and ordinary meaning as proposed by Complainants.  Id. 

Beginning once again with the claim language, claim 1 of the ’525 patent, claim 1 of the 

’239 patent, and claim 19 of the ’478 patent explicitly require a plurality of rolling members or 

wheels to be attached to the body of the robot vehicle to enable the robot to move in a first and a 

second direction.  The claims do not expressly require that any of the rolling members or wheels 

be arranged within the cavity.   

As for the specification, the preferred embodiment clearly depicts one set of wheels 

arranged fully within the cavity.  See, e.g., ’525 patent at 2:25-30 (“The inventive vehicle is 
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characterized in that the second section comprises a cavity arranged centrally within the vehicle 

body. . . .  In addition, at least one of the two sets of vehicle rolling means is arranged fully 

within the vehicle body.”).  As shown in Figure 3 (reproduced supra at 7), the specification 

further describes an embodiment in which “a first set of four wheels 10 [is] mounted inside the 

cavity 7 and in parallel to the interior walls of the body 4.”  Id. at 4:54-56.  The specification 

describes the advantages of this wheel placement:  

By arranging at least one set of vehicle rolling means fully within 
the vehicle or robot body additional stability is obtained during the 
lifting process since the rolling means is situated closer to the 
storage bin to be lifted.  Of the same reason this arrangement 
reduces the total load on the lifting device.  Furthermore, the 
arrangement is more space efficient relative to the prior art robot 
illustrated in Fig. 2 since the roller means does not give any 
additional extensions in at least one of the two robots moving 
directions (X and Y).  Production of smaller sized robots/vehicles 
is also rendered possible.  

Id. at 4:3-13.  However, in concluding that the patentee did not disavow vehicles that do not have 

at least one set of rolling means arranged fully within the cavity, Order No. 33 referred to this 

portion of the specification describing that “placing a set of vehicle rolling means within the 

vehicle body as marginally improving the central cavity design.”  Order No. 33, at 24 (emphasis 

added).  The Commission does not adopt this finding.  Nothing in the specification characterizes 

the benefits of this wheel placement as “marginal.”  Accordingly, the Commission strikes this 

sentence from page 24 of the Markman Order. 

Nonetheless, the Commission agrees with the ALJ that the specification, Complainants’ 

statements to foreign patent offices regarding related applications, Complainants’ amendment of 

application claims in related applications, and Complainants’ statements in an Oslo district court 

action do not unambiguously describe the invention as limited to the embodiment in which at 

least one set of rolling means is fully arranged within the cavity.  Order No. 33, at 18-32.  Absent 
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clear and unmistakable language suggesting otherwise, the Commission finds the specification’s 

description of one set of rolling means arranged fully within the cavity does not rise to the level 

of disavowal that is required to limit the scope of the claims. 

C. The Limitation “Essentially the Same Width and Length” Renders Claims 2-
5 of the ’525 Patent and Claims 5, 6, 14 and 15 of the ’239 Patent Indefinite 

Claim 2 of the ’525 patent and claims 5 and 14 of the ’239 patent recite a robot vehicle 

“wherein the cavity comprises a downwardly facing opening of essentially the same width and 

length as the openings for the storage columns.”  ’525 patent at 8:4-7 (emphasis added); see also 

’239 patent at 7:55-57, 8:48-51.  In the Markman Order, the ALJ determined that “essentially” is 

“a term of approximation” and “is indefinite if the specification does not provide sufficient 

guidance regarding the claim scope to allow one of ordinary skill in the art to know with 

reasonable certainty that the claim limitation is met.”  Order No. 33, at 36.  The ALJ found “the 

specification offers no clue as to whether the embodiment [of Figure 3] with a set of wheels 

arranged in the cavity falls within or outside the claim limitation” and “provides no indication as 

to ‘how much larger the cavity can be than the storage column opening and still fall within the 

boundaries of the claim.’”  Id. at 38 (quoting RRB at 12 (emphasis in original)).   

The ALJ also found the testimony of Complainants’ expert, Dr. Janét, on this issue to be 

“unsupported and conclusory” and therefore “not entitled to any weight.”  Id.  In particular, the 

ALJ observed that Dr. Janét, opined that the specification teaches that “the cavity must have a 

minimum size: i.e., one large enough to accommodate the bin and the lifting device,” “but not 

larger than that necessary minimum in any substantial amount (for example, not large enough to 

accommodate any of the robot’s wheels).”  Id. at 37 (quoting Compl. Markman Br., Ex. 1 (Janét 

Decl.) at ¶¶ 44-45, 47).  The ALJ found Dr. Janét “does not provide any support or explanation 

for his conclusion” that a person of ordinary skill in the art (“POSITA”) would understand the 
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embodiment of the vehicle with a set of wheels attached to the cavity walls as shown in Figure 3 

to have a cavity “that is substantially larger than the corresponding dimension(s) of the bin 

storage openings” and therefore not “essentially the same width and length as the openings for 

the storage columns.”  Id. (citing Janét Decl. at ¶ 46).  Accordingly, the ALJ concluded that the 

limitation renders claim 2 of the ’525 patent and claims 5 and 14 of the ’239 patent indefinite.  

Id. at 38.   

Because claims 3-5 of the ’525 patent depend from claim 2, and claims 6 and 15 of the 

’239 patent depend from claims 5 and 14, the ALJ determined these dependent claims are also 

indefinite.  Id. at 39; ID at 83, 111. 

Complainants petition for review of the indefiniteness ruling arguing that the ID failed to 

require Respondents to prove indefiniteness by clear and convincing evidence, Compl. Pet. at 63-

65, failed to give any weight to the unrebutted opinion of its expert, id. at 65-67, and disregarded 

the testimony of Respondents’ expert in parallel Inter Partes Review (“IPR”) petitions in which 

he “took the position that the limitation at issue has exactly the same meaning proposed by 

Complainants here,” id. at 68 (emphasis in original).     

The Commission affirms the ALJ’s finding that the “essentially the same width and 

length” limitation renders claims 2-5 of the ’525 patent and claims 5, 6, 14 and 15 of the ’239 

patent indefinite.  Section 112 requires patent disclosures to include claims that particularly point 

out and distinctly claim the subject matter that the patentee regards as the invention.  See 35 

U.S.C. § 112, ¶ 2;6 Metabolite Labs., Inc. v. Lab. Corp. of Am. Holdings, 370 F.3d 1354, 1366 

 
6 Congress has replaced 35 U.S.C. § 112 ¶ 2 with § 112(b), effective on September 16, 

2012.  Leahy–Smith America Invents Act (“AIA”), Pub. L. No. 112–29, 125 Stat. 284 (2011).  
Because the applications resulting in the asserted patents were filed before that date, we refer to 
the pre-AIA version of § 112. 
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(Fed. Cir. 2004).  If a claim’s legal scope is not clear enough to allow a person of ordinary skill 

in the art to determine whether or not a particular product infringes, the claim is indefinite, and 

hence, invalid.  Geneva Pharms., Inc. v. GlaxoSmithKline PLC, 349 F.3d 1373, 1384 (Fed. Cir. 

2003).  However, the Supreme Court has cautioned that if the claims, “viewed in light of the 

specification and prosecution history, inform those skilled in the art about the scope of the 

invention with reasonable certainty,” the claims are not indefinite.  Nautilus, Inc. v. Biosig 

Instruments, Inc., 572 U.S. 898, 910 (2014).  To the extent there are any factual findings upon 

which an indefiniteness conclusion depends, they must be proven by the challenger by clear and 

convincing evidence.  See BASF Corp. v. Johnson Matthey Inc., 875 F.3d 1360, 1365 (Fed. Cir. 

2017). 

Apart from the claims, the specification and the prosecution history do not use the term 

“essentially.”  RX-0006C (Pfeifer DWS) at A495.  With respect to the size of the cavity in 

relation to the storage bin and storage opening, the specification teaches that: 

In order to allow easy entrance of the storage bin into the central 
cavity, its volume should be larger than the largest storage bin 
intended to be picked from the storage system. Likewise, the cross 
sectional area of at least one of the at least one bin receiving 
opening should be larger than the cross sectional area of the 
storage bin walls oriented parallel to the cavity opening(s). 

’525 patent at 2:31-37 (emphasis added).  Referring to the embodiment shown in Figures 3 & 4, 

the specification teaches that the “size of the cavity 7 is adapted to contain necessary component 

for a lifting device 9 and to at least completely contain the largest storage bin 2 intended to be 

picked up by the robot 1.”  Id. at 4:64-67.  In other words, the dimensions of the cavity opening 

should be larger than the largest storage bin and the storage opening but the specification 

provides no guidance on how much larger the cavity opening can be and still fall within the 

scope of the claims.  See RX-0006C (Pfeifer DWS) at A495 (“The Common Specification 
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provides no guidance to a POSITA as to what size would constitute ‘essentially the same width 

and length.’”); RX-0012C (D’Andrea RWS) at A361 (“[A] POSITA would have no guidance—

looking at the claim language, the specification, and the prosecution history—of what defines the 

dimensions of a robot that ‘essentially’ covers a single opening”). 

Complainants’ expert, Dr. Janét, proposed to construe the limitation to mean “having a 

width and a length that are substantially equal to those for the openings for” the storage columns.  

Janét Decl. at ¶ 43 (emphasis added).  According to Dr. Janét, the specification teaches that the 

minimum size of the cavity is “one large enough to accommodate the bin and the lifting device.”  

Id. at ¶ 45.  Dr. Janét does not explain how substituting one term of degree “essentially” for 

another term of degree “substantially” allows a POSITA to know the objective boundaries of the 

“essentially the same width and length” limitation.  See Order No. 33, at 37-38; RX-0006C 

(Pfeifer DWS) at A495.  Moreover, Dr. Janét’s proposed construction conflicts with the 

specification’s disclosure, which teaches that the cavity opening should be larger than, not 

substantially equal to, the storage bin and the storage opening. 

Dr. Janét also opined that the cavity is “not larger than that necessary minimum in any 

substantial amount (for example, not large enough to accommodate any of the robot’s wheels).”  

Janét Decl. at ¶ 47.  In other words, he opined that the claims at issue do not cover the 

embodiment of the vehicle in Figures 3 & 4 which have one set of wheels fully within the 

vehicle body.  See ’525 patent at Figs. 3-4 & 4:50-56.  The Commission agrees with the ALJ that 

Dr. Janét’s opinion is neither credible nor substantiated by the specification.  Order No. 33, at 

37-38.  As the ALJ found, “Dr. Janét does not provide any support or explanation for his 

conclusion that the embodiment having a set of wheels in the cavity would be understood by one 

of ordinary skill as having a cavity ‘substantially larger’ than—and therefore not essentially the 
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same length and width as—the storage opening.”  Id.  The Commission agrees with the ALJ’s 

finding that Dr. Janét’s opinion was “unsupported and conclusory” given that all the figures in 

the patent show a cavity opening large enough to accommodate a set of wheels fully within the 

vehicle body.  Id. at 38; ’525 patent at Figs. 3-4 & 4:50-56. 

Complainants argue the ALJ disregarded the testimony of Respondents’ expert in IPR 

petitions related to the ’525 and ’239 patents.  The Commission is unpersuaded by this argument.  

The PTAB does not consider whether a claim is indefinite and indefiniteness is not a ground that 

can be raised in IPR petitions.  See 35 U.S.C. § 311(b).  The fact that Respondents’ expert 

proposed constructions in order to facilitate IPR challenges on grounds of obviousness and 

anticipation is not a concession that a POSITA would arrive at those constructions with 

reasonable certainty.  See Order No. 33, at 38 n.16.  

Accordingly, the Commission finds the ALJ correctly determined that nothing in the 

claims or the specification allows a POSITA to determine the objective boundaries of the 

“essentially the same width and length” limitation with reasonable certainty.  Thus, on review, 

the Commission affirms the ID’s finding that claims 2-5 of the ’525 patent and claims 5, 6, 14 

and 15 of the ’239 patent are invalid as indefinite under 35 U.S.C. § 112, ¶ 2 as found in the 

Markman Order.  ID at 83, 111. 

D. The Proper Construction of the Limitation “A Displacement Motor” in 
Claim 1 of the ’025 Patent  

Claim 1 of the ’025 patent recites in relevant part:   

a displacement motor configured to provide power to displace 
at least one of the first set of vehicle wheels and the second set 
of vehicle wheels means7 between a displaced state where the 
first or second set of vehicle wheels is displaced away from the 
underlying storage system during use, and a non-displaced state 

 
7 The parties agree that “means” is a typographical error.  ID at 122. 
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where the first or second set of vehicle wheels is in contact with 
the underlying storage system during use,  

wherein the displacement motor is situated in a lateral plane 
above the cavity, and further configured to generate a power 
that is converted to a vertically directed pressure force acting on 
the first or second set of vehicle wheels. 

’025 patent (JX-0001) at 11:64-12:31 (emphasis added).  The issue presented is whether the 

claimed “displacement motor” can encompass multiple displacement motors acting to displace 

one set of wheels oriented in one direction.   

  RX-0013C at Q78-83 (operation of the Ocado 400 series 

robots).  The ALJ interpreted the claim to require a single displacement motor acting on each set 

of wheels and therefore found no infringement.  ID at 129-32.  Complainants petition for review 

of the ID’s construction of “a displacement motor” to mean a single displacement motor.  

Compl. Pet. at 69-76. 

After considering the claim language, specification, and weighing expert testimony, the 

ID found that the ’025 patent clearly evinces an intent to define “a displacement motor” in the 

singular.  ID at 122-29.  The ID reached this conclusion on the grounds that: (1) the claim 

language distinguishes between “a” and “at least one” (id. at 124-25); (2) the “description of the 

displacement motor being ‘further configured’ indicates that the claim was referring to the same 

displacement motor that had been ‘configured,’ i.e., a single motor” (id. at 125); and (3) the 

specification does not describe any embodiments with more than one displacement motor (id. at 

125-29).  The Commission finds that the ID correctly construed “a displacement motor” to mean 

a single displacement motor that is configured to perform the claimed functions.   

By way of background, the ’025 patent discloses “a remotely operated vehicle assembly 

for picking up storage bins from a storage system, a storage system for storage of bins and a 

method for changing direction of the vehicle.”  ’025 patent at 1:6-9.  As shown below in 
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annotated Figure 6 of the ’025 patent, the disclosed vehicle has a vehicle body with a cavity 7 

for receiving storage bins and two sets of vehicle wheels, wheels 10 (in yellow) and wheels 11 

(in blue), with each set oriented perpendicular to the other.8  Id. at 6:21-42.  At least one set of 

wheels “may be displaced vertically.”  Id. at 6:64-67.  When one set of wheels is in the non-

displaced state, the wheels are in contact with the underlying storage system; when the set of 

wheels is in the displaced state, the wheels are “displaced away from the underlying storage 

system.”  Id. at 1:64-2:7. 

 

CDX-0013C-1 (annotating Fig 6 of the ’025 patent).  The wheels are raised and lowered by a 

“displacement arrangement” mechanism that is powered by “a displacement motor 25,” (in 

green) which enables “mechanical alternation between the displaced state and the non-displaced 

state.”  ’025 patent at Abstract, 7:51-53, 2:32-36.   

 
8 There is no dispute that a “set” of wheels refers to the wheels oriented in the same 

direction.  ID at 123. 
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Complainants argue the ID’s construction of “a displacement motor” to mean a single 

displacement motor directly contradicts Federal Circuit precedent that “[a]s a general rule, the 

words ‘a’ or ‘an’ in a patent claim carry the meaning of ‘one or more.’”  Compl. Pet. at 69 

(quoting 01 Communique Lab., Inc. v. LogMeIn, Inc., 687 F.3d 1292, 1297 (Fed. Cir. 2012)).  

They contend that the “exceptions to this rule are extremely limited: a patentee must ‘evince[] a 

clear intent’ to limit ‘a’ or ‘an’ to ‘one’”; and there is no clear intent to limit the claim scope 

here.  Id. at 74-75 (quoting Baldwin Graphic Sys., Inc. v. Siebert, Inc., 512 F.3d 1338, 1342 (Fed. 

Cir. 2008) (emphasis added)).  They submit that a patentee’s use of plurals elsewhere in a claim 

is not one of the circumstances in which the patentee evinces a clear intent to limit “a” to “one.”  

Id. at 80 (citing, inter alia, Convolve, Inc. v. Compaq Comput. Corp., 812 F.3d 1313, 1321 (Fed. 

Cir. 2016)). 

The Commission affirms the ID’s finding that the patentee evinced a clear intent to limit 

“a displacement motor” to a single displacement motor.  Starting with the claim language, the ID 

found the use of the term “at least one” in claims 1 and 11 “shows that when the patentee 

intended to refer to one or more claim elements, they did so explicitly and did not rely on the 

indefinite article ‘a.’”  ID at 124-25.  The ID determined that the “use of such contrasting claim 

language evinces an intent to limit ‘a’ to the singular.”  Id. at 125.  Complainants did not address 

this argument by Respondents before the ALJ.  Id.   

While the use of contrasting claim language by itself does not compel a departure from 

the general rule that “a” means “one or more,” this contrast in combination with other language 

and structure in a claim can evince a clear intent to limit “a” to “one.”  For example, in Convolve, 

the Federal Circuit found the language and structure of the claims at issue demonstrate a clear 

intent to limit “a processor” to a single processor.  812 F.3d at 1321.  In particular, the Court 
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noted that the claim body’s reference to “the processor,” referring back to the “a processor” 

recited earlier in the claim, supports a conclusion that the claimed “user interface” works with a 

single processor to perform all of the recited steps.  Id.  Here, “the displacement motor” in claim 

1 refers back to the “a displacement motor” recited earlier in the claim and indicates that the 

claim is referring to the same displacement motor, i.e., a single motor.  See ’025 patent at 12:15-

30 (emphasis added).  The claim also requires the “a displacement motor” is “configured to 

provide power to displace” a set of vehicle wheels and “the displacement motor” is “further 

configured to generate a power that is converted to a vertically directed pressure force acting on 

the . . . set of vehicle wheels.”  Id. at 12:14-15, 12:27-29.  In other words, the claim language 

requires a single displacement motor in the “displacement arrangement” to be configured to 

“provide power to displace at least one” set of wheels and “generate a power that is converted to 

a vertically directed pressure force.”  Id.  Given this claim language and the claims’ intentional 

contrasting use of “a” and “at least one,” the Commission concludes that claim 1 requires the 

displacement arrangement to have a single displacement motor in performing both “configured 

to” functions.9  

In addition to the claim language, the Commission finds the patentee used “at least one” 

and “one or more” in the specification to refer to one or more claim elements.  For example, in 

the specification, the patentee used “one or more” when they intended to refer to one or more 

“dedicated motors” but did not do so when they referred to “the displacement motor” in the same 

sentence: 

 
9 The ID declined to rely on the “a/the” series, citing Baldwin Graphic Sys., Inc. v. 

Siebert, Inc., 512 F.3d 1338, 1342-43 (Fed. Cir. 2008).  ID at 124.  It appears neither party cited 
Convolve in connection with this issue until Complainants’ Petition for Review.  In any event, 
the Commission finds the more recent Convolve decision applicable here.   
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The motor providing the necessary power to drive the vehicle 
assembly in the X or Y direction may be one or more dedicated 
motors and/or the displacement motor.  

’025 patent at 2:15-18 (emphasis added); see also id. at 3:22-24 (“In another advantageous 

embodiment the vehicle assembly further comprises at least one driving motor situated at the 

lateral plane above the cavity . . . .”) (emphasis added).  Other passages in the specification also 

clearly show that the patentee intended that other motors may be “one or more” but not the 

displacement motor.  Id. at 8:15-26 (referring to “[t]he before mentioned displacement motor 25” 

and the “[a]t least one of the motors 9a,20,21 is preferably a DC motor”); id. at 10:11-14 (“The 

driving means 10,11 may obtain their driving force in lateral (X,Y) direction by the utilization of 

one or more motors integrated within the driving means . . . .”).  Thus, the Commission finds 

both the claim language and the specification consistently use “at least one” and “one or more” 

to refer to one or more claim elements whereas the indefinite article “a” is used consistently to 

mean one or a single element. 

Complainants also argue that the specification expressly discloses an embodiment with 

two displacement motors working together to raise and lower a set of wheels:  “In yet an 

alternative configuration the rotation of the lever arm 23 may be operated by arranging a 

suitable displacement motor both [1] at its fulcrum 26 and [2] at or near the opposite end of the 

lever arm 23.”  Comp. Pet. at 76 (quoting ’025 patent at 8:1-4 (emphasis and identifying 

numbering [1] and [2] added)).  According to Complainants, it was “nonsensical” for 

Respondents’ expert to “rewrite the relevant specification passages by arguing that the word 

‘both’ meant ‘between.’”  Id. at 77 (citing Tr. (Schmidt) at 334:21-25, 348:22-349:7).  They 

submit that the inventor, Mr. Fjeldheim, and their expert, Dr. Janét, both confirmed that the 

specification discloses a reference to two motors used to displace the wheels.  Id. at 76 (citing 

CX-0012C (Fjeldheim RWS) at A 25; Tr. (Janét) at 204:11-205:11).  Complainants argue that 
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Mr. Fjeldheim consistently testified regarding the same, including at his deposition.  Id. at 78 

(citing RX-0017C (Fjeldheim Dep. Tr.) at 158:15-159:2).  While Complainants acknowledge 

that their expert, Dr. Janét, offered conflicting testimony at his deposition, they assert that the ID 

unreasonably expected Dr. Janét to have read the description regarding the third embodiment 

given that he “considered a large number of documents in forming his opinions in this case.”  Id. 

at 79.  Finally, Complainants argue that even if there is no disclosure of an embodiment with two 

displacement motors, the law does not require an application to describe every possible 

embodiment.  Id. 

The ID observed that the parties do not dispute the specification discloses three 

embodiments related to the displacement motor, and there is no dispute that two of the 

embodiments use a single motor to displace a set of wheels.  ID at 126.  In the first embodiment 

shown in Figure 6 (annotated above), the displacement motor 25 is placed at the end of lever 

arm 23 (in orange).  In this embodiment, the displacement motor 25 rotates lever arm 23 which 

lowers the displaceable bar 22 (in purple).  See ’025 patent at 7:34-37.  The displaceable bar 22 

is connected to the displacement plates 34(a), (b) (in red) such that when the displaceable bar 22 

moves down so does the first set of wheels 10.  See id. at 7:14-26.  By pushing the first set of 

wheels down, the second set of wheels is lifted up relative to the track.  In the second 

embodiment, the displacement motor is located at the fulcrum 26 of lever arm 23.  Id. at 7:48-

65.  As for the third embodiment, the specification teaches that the displacement motor is 

located “both at its fulcrum 26 and at or near the opposite end of the lever arm 23.”  Id. at 8:1-4.     

The ID noted that parties dispute whether the third embodiment uses two displacement 

motors or one displacement motor to displace a set of wheels.  ID at 126.  After observing that 

the “sentence describing the third embodiment is grammatically fractured and, as a result, 
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conflicts with both interpretations,” the ID turned to the experts for their interpretation of the 

specification from the perspective of a POSITA and determined that the testimony of 

Respondents’ expert is entitled to more weight than that of Complainants’ expert.  Id. at 126-27 

(citing Tr. (Schmidt) at 348:20-349:14).  The ID noted that Complainants’ expert had testified at 

his deposition that the ’025 patent does not disclose “an explicit design . . . where there are two 

motors for displacement.”  Id. (quoting Janét Dep. Tr. at 182:24-183:17).  The ID also noted that 

the “first time that Dr. Janét opined that the third embodiment described in the ’025 patent was a 

‘two displacement motor’ design was in his rebuttal expert report.”  Id.  The ID struck this 

testimony as being inconsistent with his earlier deposition testimony.  Id. at 127, n.12 (citing 

Order No. 51, at 5).  The ID also found not credible the testimony of Mr. Fjeldheim that the third 

embodiment disclosed two motors because “it is inconsistent with interpretation of Respondents’ 

expert and the apparent, initial interpretation of Complainants’ expert.”  Id. at 128 (citing CX-

0012C (Fjeldheim RWS) at A 25).  Accordingly, the ID found, in view of the claim language 

and specification and the credible expert testimony, that “a displacement motor” requires a 

single displacement motor that is configured to displace a set of wheels. 

The Commission finds no clear error with the ID’s determination to give less weight to 

Dr. Janét’s conflicting testimony.  Dr. Janét testified at his deposition that there is no explicit 

disclosure of two displacement motors, but later changed his opinion at the evidentiary hearing.  

Dr. Janét’s deposition testimony is as follows: 

Q. · · · · · · Do you agree that there is no mention in the 
specification of the ’025 patent of any embodiment with more than 
one displacement motor? · · · · · ·  

A.· · Reading on, I point out that the patent explicitly states the 
embodiment ’025 are illustrated embodiments and that “various 
modifications and variations of the illustrated embodiments as well 
as other embodiments of the apparatus.” · · ·  
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Q.· · I’m sorry, sir, I can read what you've written. · · · · · · My 
question is is there an actual mention in this specification of the 
’025 patent of any embodiment with more than one displacement 
motor? · · · 

A.· · Are you saying is there an explicit design articulated where 
there are two motors for displacement? · · ·  

Q.· · Correct, sir. · · ·  

A.· · There’s not and there doesn't need to be.· A person of 
ordinary skill in the art would understand with this 
acknowledgment of other embodiments, especially given the 
definition for A as meaning potentially one or more, that there 
could be more than one displacement motor. It’s not a stretch.· 
It’s actually -- inherent to that. 

EDIS No. 746198, Ex. B (Janét Dep. Tr. Excerpt I) at 195:9-196:18 (emphasis added).  The 

Commission agrees with the ID that Dr. Janét’s deposition testimony is “clear on its face”—there 

is no explicit disclosure of two displacement motors in the specification.  Order No. 51, at 5; ID 

at 127-28.  Rather, Dr. Janét believed the use of two displacement motors is “inherent” or 

“apparent” to a POSITA.  Janét Dep. Tr. Excerpt I at 196:10-18; EDIS No. 747128, Ex. 9 (Janét 

Dep. Tr. Excerpt II) at 197:1-199:15.   

Complainants argue that Dr. Janét “missed the third embodiment during his deposition 

testimony . . . given the large amount of materials and issues involved in this Investigation.”  

Compl. Pet. at 78-79.  Later, at the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Janét testified: 

              11             Dr. Janet, I want to direct your attention to 
              12  column 8 of the ’025 Patent. 
 

* * * * 

              18             In light of this language of the ’025 Patent 
              19  specification, where the questions Mr. De Leeuw asked you 
              20  about, “Is there any explicit reference to two motors to 
              21  displace the wheels?” 
              22             What's the answer to that question? 
              23       A.    Well, simple answer is yes. 
              24       Q.    Then specifically, can you identify to the Court 
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              25  what you're referring to? 
               1       A.    Absolutely. 
               2             So -- well, the paragraph reads:  “And yet, an 
               3  alternative configuration, the rotation of the lever arm,” 
               4  which is this bar that goes the span of the -- I'm sorry, 
               5  it’s a bar that pivots off of a fulcrum point.  “May be 
               6  operated by arranging a suitable displacement motor both at 
               7  its fulcrum, 26, or near the opposite end of the lever arm, 
               8  23.” 
               9             So I apologize that I missed that early on, but 
              10  I would also be untruthful if I were to say it's not in 
              11  there. 
 

Tr. (Janét) 204:11-205:11.  The Commission agrees with the ALJ that Complainants’ explanation 

for Dr. Janét’s conflicting deposition testimony is not persuasive.  The ID reasonably inferred 

that “[i]t is not credible [that] Dr. Janét simply did not read the sentence” at issue and that it is 

“[m]ore credible” that he “repeatedly interpreted the sentence as a description of a ‘single 

displacement motor’ design, not a ‘two displacement motor’ design.”  ID at 128.  The 

Commission finds Dr. Janét’s initial reliance on inherent disclosure and the brevity of the 

specification of the ’025 patent further discredits Complainants’ argument that their expert 

simply “missed” the disclosure of the third embodiment during his deposition.  The Commission 

finds no clear error in the ID’s rejection of Dr. Janét’s conflicting testimony, and finds that the 

specification’s failure to disclose an embodiment with more than one displacement motor further 

evinces the patentee’s intent to limit the claims to a single displacement motor.  

In sum, the Commission finds the ’025 patent clearly evinces an intent to define “a 

displacement motor” in the singular, and thus affirms the ALJ’s construction of “a displacement 

motor” to require a single displacement motor to perform the claimed functions of “configured to 

provide power to displace at least one of the first set of vehicle wheels and the second set of 

vehicle wheels” and “further configured to generate a power that is converted to a vertically 

directed pressure force acting on the first or second set of vehicle wheels.”  ’025 patent at 12:15-
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18, 12:26-30.  Under this construction, the accused Ocado 400 Series robots do not meet the 

“displacement motor” limitation of claim 1 because  

 

 

  ID at 130-31. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

As discussed above, the Commission has determined to review in part the final ID and, 

on review, affirm with modifications the ID’s finding of no violation of section 337.   

By order of the Commission. 

 
Lisa R. Barton 

        Secretary to the Commission 
Issued:  March 17, 2022 

 




